STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

ORIGINAL

Certiorari to Colleton County

Honorable Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUN 06 2019

DESMOND J. SAMS,

PETITIONER S.C. SUPREME COURT

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-001617

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the PCR judge err in refusing to find appellate counsel ineffective for not arguing on direct appeal that the trial judge erred in refusing to grant a mistrial based on the State's failure to timely disclose videotaped statements by two eye witnesses, failure to timely disclose a video interview of Petitioner and failure to timely disclose a written statement by another witness?

STATEMENT

In October of 2008, the Colleton County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner, Desmond J. Sams, for murder and assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature [ABHAN], indictments #2008-GS-15-370, 371. On January 28, 2009, Petitioner proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Perry M. Buckner. David Matthews represented Petitioner at trial. Deputy Solicitor Sean Thornton prosecuted the case. The jury found Petitioner guilty of the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter and not guilty of ABHAN. Judge Buckner sentenced Petitioner to twenty-four (24) years suspended upon the service of eighteen (18) years with five (5) years of probation.

A timely notice of intent to appeal was filed and the direct appeal perfected. Joseph L. Savitz represented Petitioner on direct appeal. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction. State v. Sams, Op. No. 2011-UP-205 (S.C.Ct.App. May 4, 2011). Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari in the South Carolina Supreme Court which was granted on October 17, 2012. Tristan Shaffer and Susan Hackett represented Petitioner. Following additional briefing and argument, the South Carolina Supreme Court affirmed the decision by the Court of Appeals. State v. Sams, 410 S.C. 303, 764 S.E.2d 511 (2014). A petition for rehearing was filed on October 9, 2014, and denied on November 7, 2014.

On March 27, 2015, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief [PCR]. The State filed a return on October 30, 2015. On October 10, 2017, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Thomas Russo. James Falk represented Petitioner at the PCR hearing. Ruston Neely represented the State. In a written order signed April 4, 2018, Judge Russo granted post-conviction relief. The State filed a motion to amend and motion to reconsider. In an amended order filed August 17, 2018, Judge Russo denied relief and dismissed the

application. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on September 4, 2018. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

The PCR judge erred in refusing to find appellate counsel ineffective for not arguing on direct appeal that the trial judge erred in refusing to grant a mistrial based on the State's failure to timely disclose videotaped statements by two witnesses, failure to timely disclose a video interview of Petitioner and failure to timely disclose a written statement by another witness.

A jury found Petitioner guilty of voluntary manslaughter for the fatal choking of Jake "Red" Frazier, Petitioner's friend and first cousin. (App. p. 178, lines 2-6). Petitioner, Frazier, Lisa Strickland and Stephanie Ballard were at Strickland's trailer drinking when an argument turned physical between Petitioner and Frazier. (App. pp. 180-185). Petitioner testified at trial that Frazier accused him of touching Ballard and then Frazier began punching him. (App. p. 181, lines 8-25). Petitioner testified that Frazier "was trying to pull out my windpipe." (App. p. 182, lines 10-12). Petitioner testified that Frazier bit his finger. (App. p. 182, lines 15-20). Petitioner testified that he was trying to protect himself and restrain Frazier. (App. pp. 184-185). Petitioner testified that he was not trying to kill Frazier. (App. p. 191, line 1). The judge instructed the jury on the law of self-defense. (App. pp. 273-276).

The only issue presented on direct appeal was whether Petitioner was entitled to a jury instruction on involuntary manslaughter. Both the South Carolina Court of Appeals and the South Carolina Supreme Court found that Petitioner was not entitled to an instruction on involuntary manslaughter. In a footnote in the Court of Appeals opinion the Court wrote, "We are disturbed by the brevity of the legal argument in Sams's appellate brief, which consists of less than a page." State v. Sams, Op. No. 2011-UP-205, n. #2 (S.C.Ct.App. May 4, 2011).

In the *pro se* application for post-conviction relief Petitioner alleges, "Due process Brady violation." (App. p. 322). During the PCR hearing trial counsel testified that during the trial,

after Strickland and Ballard testified, he learned that the State had not turned over the videotaped statements from these two witnesses. (App. p. 342, line 1 – p. 343, lines 1-3). Trial counsel had written statements from Strickland and Ballard but not the videotaped statements. (App. p. 345, lines 1-4). In addition to the videotaped statements of Strickland and Ballard, trial counsel also testified that he did not have a written statement from witness Sharon Glover prior to her testimony at trial. (App. p. 344, line 16 – p. 345, lines 1-9). Trial counsel testified that he moved for a mistrial based on the State's failure to timely disclose evidence. (App. p. 342, line 21 – p. 343, lines 1-3).

The trial transcript reflects that Detective Inabinett was called as a defense witness and testified that there were videotaped statements from Strickland and Ballard. (App. p. 169, lines 16-25). The judge held a bench conference and then later the State made the videotaped statements available. (App. pp. 194 – 196). Trial counsel noted that, in addition to the videotaped statements of Strickland and Ballard, the State also failed to disclose a written statement from Sharon Glover. (App. p. 196, lines 18-19). Trial counsel moved for a mistrial. (App. p. 196, line 7 – p. 197, lines 1-3). The judge withheld ruling on the mistrial motion until the next morning after both sides reviewed the videotaped statements. (App. p. 197, lines 4-10; p. 199, lines 1-6).

The next morning trial counsel moved for a mistrial and argued:

I received tapes yesterday, and through no fault – I could ascertain no fault in the Solicitor's Office¹, but I just got these. I've viewed them, have been provided

¹ But see Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 436–40, 115 S.Ct. 1555, 1567–68, 131 L.Ed.2d 490, 508 (1995) (prosecutor can establish procedures and regulations to carry the State's burden of disclosure and to ensure communication of all relevant information on each case to every lawyer who deals with it); State v. Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. at 240, 471 S.E.2d at 693 (information known to investigative agencies may be imputable to prosecutor, but prosecutor has no duty to go on fishing expedition to find exculpatory or impeachment evidence).

copies, I've viewed them and feel that were I allowed – if this were mistried, I would handle the witnesses differently and I believe there are – made some serious inconsistent statements, in my opinion, on this that would have affected the way I would have handled the witnesses on cross, the first time around, and so, upon that basis, I would ask for a mistrial.

(App. p. 200, lines 15-24). The State stipulated that Petitioner filed all appropriate Brady and Rule 5 motions but argued there was no prejudice. (App. p. 202, lines 3-25). The judge denied the motion for a mistrial but required the State to recall the witnesses to allow re-cross examination based on the videotaped statements. (App. p. 203, line 24 – p. 204, 205, lines 1-18). Both witnesses were re-called and their videotaped statements admitted in evidence. (App. pp. 211-220).

During the PCR hearing trial counsel was asked about the judge recalling the witnesses instead of granting the mistrial motion and trial counsel testified:

Yeah, I could call the witness, but I – it's – I was really irritated with this. I mean, you – you—you know, it it's somewhat different, it can change the way you shape a case, but it wouldn't necessarily mean you wouldn't want to call the witness that's already testified because they may just confirm a lot of what was already said and reinforce it. And the little points you might have been able to make on cross if you'd had them, is lost, if they're just reconfirming, you know, if it's 90 percent the same and 10 percent difference, that can make a big difference if you're doing it one time. If you're doing it two times, you may be just affirming what they already said, and that's not so hopeful.

(App. p. 347, line 18 – p. 348, lines 1-5).

Appellate counsel also testified at the PCR hearing. When asked if it would distract from the brief to raise more than one issue, Appellate counsel testified:

No. No, I mean, if there were other – if there were other issues, winning issues that I could have raised that I didn't raise, no. I mean, you know – we lost and the Court of Appeals, you know, wrote in the opinion that I should have written longer briefs. Can't argue with that. So, no, it wouldn't have hurt, it would have been – I mean, there's never a reason to waive a winning issue. I mean, that's always ineffective.

(App. p. 369, lines 4-11). When asked about why he did not challenge the trial judge's refusal to grant a mistrial based on the State's failure to timely disclose evidence, appellate counsel testified that he did not remember this issue and may have missed the issue. (App. p. 371, lines 1-7). Appellate counsel testified, "But as far as any other issues that, you know, that I may have missed. If I missed a winning issue, then I missed it. I didn't abandon any issues of this case for strategic reasons." (App. p. 371, lines 19-22). Appellate counsel missed a winning issue in failing to argue that the trial judge erred in refusing to grant a mistrial based on the Brady violations.

In the order of dismissal the PCR judge wrote:

In conclusion, because the trial court was able to remedy the failure of the State to disclose the videotapes, this Court finds Applicant was not prejudiced, and the fairness of his trial was preserved. The trial court also acted within its discretion in denying trial counsel's motion for a mistrial. Finally, because appellate counsel is under no duty to raise unsuccessful arguments, and because there is not a reasonable likelihood that the appellate courts would have reached a different outcome had the mistrial issue been briefed, this Court finds Applicant has failed to satisfy the second prong of Strickland as to this ground of his PCR application.

(App. p. 428). The PCR judge erred. Appellate counsel was ineffective in failing to argue on direct appeal that the trial judge erred in refusing to grant a mistrial based on the Brady violations. Petitioner was prejudiced by the deficient performance.

A criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Courts evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel using a two-pronged test. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052). First, the applicant must demonstrate counsel's representation was deficient, which is measured by an

objective standard of reasonableness. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687–88, 104 S.Ct. 2052. “Under this prong, ‘[t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.’” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052). Second, the applicant must demonstrate he was prejudiced by counsel's performance in such a manner that, but for counsel's error, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id.

In Bennett v. State, 383 S.C. 303, 309, 680 S.E.2d 273, 276 (2009), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

A criminal defendant is constitutionally entitled to the effective assistance of appellate counsel. Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 398, 105 S.Ct. 830, 83 L.Ed.2d 821 (1985). However, counsel is not required to raise every non-frivolous claim, but may select among them in order to maximize the likelihood of a favorable outcome. Smith v. Robbins, 528 U.S. 259, 288, 120 S.Ct. 746, 145 L.Ed.2d 756 (2000). Generally, in analyzing a claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, this Court applies the Strickland test just as it would when analyzing a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. See Southerland v. State, 337 S.C. 610, 616, 524 S.E.2d 833, 836 (1999). Thus, in this case, we ask 1) whether appellate counsel's performance was deficient, and 2) whether Respondent was prejudiced by appellate counsel's deficient performance.

Appellate counsel’s performance was deficient. Based on an objective standard of reasonableness, appellate counsel should have raised on direct appeal the trial judge’s refusal to grant a mistrial based on the Brady violations. In Gibson v. State, 334 S.C. 515, 524, 514 S.E.2d 320, 324 (1999), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

A Brady claim is based upon the requirement of due process. Such a claim is complete if the accused can demonstrate (1) the evidence was favorable to the accused, (2) it was in the possession of or known to the prosecution,³ (3) it was suppressed by the prosecution, and (4) it was material to guilt or punishment. Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 432–42, 115 S.Ct. 1555, 1565–69, 131 L.Ed.2d

490, 505–10 (1995); Brady, 373 U.S. at 87, 83 S.Ct. at 1196, 10 L.Ed.2d at 218; State v. Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. 234, 241, 471 S.E.2d 689, 693 (1996). This rule applies to impeachment evidence as well as exculpatory evidence. United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 676, 105 S.Ct. 3375, 3380, 87 L.Ed.2d 481, 490 (1985); State v. Von Dohlen, *supra*.

In the present case the videotaped statements of Strickland and Ballard constituted impeachment evidence that was suppressed by the prosecution. The remedy fashioned by the trial judge did not adequately cure the error because the impeachment value was diluted by not being able to cross-examine the witnesses directly following their testimony. The remedy also did not cure the Brady violation with regard to the video interview of Petitioner. In addition to the two suppressed video statements of Strickland and Ballard, and the written statement of Sharron Glover² the State also suppressed a video interview with Petitioner. During the PCR hearing trial counsel testified that the State failed to timely disclose a video interview of Petitioner. (App. p. 349, line 21 – p. 350, lines 1-6). Trial counsel reviewed the suppressed videotaped statements of Strickland and Ballard and the video interview of Petitioner during an evening break **after** the defense presented witnesses and after the defense introduced a photograph of Petitioner’s injuries. (App. p. 173, lines 2-13). The next morning Petitioner moved to introduce the video interview of Petitioner in evidence because the video demonstrated the injuries and condition of Petitioner and supported self-defense better than the admitted photograph. (App. p. 206, lines 20-25). Unlike the videotaped statements from Strickland and Ballard that were admitted in evidence, the trial judge refused to admit the video interview of Petitioner. (App. p. 207, 208, 209, lines 1-7; p. 237, line 4 – p. 238, lines 1-14).

The trial judge ruled that the video was cumulative to the photograph that was already in evidence stating, “Let the record reflect that I’ve reviewed the tape now, and I’d like to say that

² There does not appear to be further argument in regard to the suppressed written statement by Glover.

my review of the tape really does not show with the detail that Mr. Mathews has already been able to demonstrate to the jury, the extent of injuries to his client, like Defendant's Exhibit Number One. So, I certainly see no basis to admit the tape on the basis of showing the injuries, because I think they're clearly shown in the photograph, which is Defendant's Exhibit Number One." (App. p. 237, lines 4-12). During the PCR hearing trial counsel testified that if he had known about the video interview of Petitioner prior to trial he would have had the choice of moving to admit either the video interview or the photograph. (App. p. 350, line 19 – p. 351, 352, lines 1-3). Appellate counsel was deficient in failing to argue that the trial judge erred in refusing to grant a mistrial based on the Brady violations.

Petitioner was prejudiced by the deficient performance of appellate counsel. There is a reasonable probability that, if appellate counsel had argued that the trial judge erred in refusing to grant a mistrial based on the Brady violations, the result of the proceedings would have been different. Petitioner testified that he acted in self-defense. Impeachment of the two eye-witnesses and the video of Petitioner were important in establishing self-defense. The jury deliberated for over three hours and had many questions. (App. pp. 290 – 302). The jury asked to hear Ballard's videotaped statement again and asked for the legal term for voluntary manslaughter. (App. p. 292, lines 10-19; p. 293, lines 3-4). Ballard's videotaped statement was replayed for the jury and the judge recharged voluntary manslaughter. (App. pp. 296 – 299). The jury also asked to see a photo of Frazier after the altercation, asked to hear the 911 calls, asked about the time difference between the start of the fight and the first 911 call, and asked the height and weight of Frazier. (App. p. 293, lines 16-24). As to these questions, the judge simply instructed the jury that they must decide this case based on the evidence presented during the

of the case. (App. p. 295, lines 19-22). The jury returned with a verdict of guilty of the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter.


In Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 188, 810 S.E.2d 836, 843 (2018), reh'g denied (Mar. 29, 2018), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

In determining whether the applicant has proven prejudice, the PCR court should consider the specific impact counsel's error had on the outcome of the trial. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 695-96, 104 S.Ct. at 2069, 80 L.Ed.2d at 698-99 (explaining that the court must analyze how individual errors of counsel affect the important factual findings in a particular case). In addition, the PCR court should consider the strength of the State's case in light of all the evidence presented to the jury. See generally Jones v. State, 332 S.C. 329, 333, 504 S.E.2d 822, 824 (1998) (“In deciding whether Jones was prejudiced, we must bear in mind the strength of the government's case ...,” and “we must consider the totality of the evidence before the jury.”). In general, the stronger the evidence presented by the State, the less likely the PCR court will find the applicant met his burden of proving prejudice. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 696, 104 S.Ct. at 2069, 80 L.Ed.2d at 699 (stating “a verdict ... only weakly supported by the record is more likely to have been affected by errors than one with overwhelming record support”).

Appellate counsel's failure to raise the trial judge's refusal to grant a mistrial based on the Brady violation directly impacted the outcome of the appeal. There is a reasonable probability that, if appellate counsel had argued that the trial judge erred in refusing to grant a mistrial based on the Brady violations, the result of the proceedings would have been different. While an appellate attorney does not have the duty to raise every non-frivolous issue, the appellate attorney is required to provide effective assistance of counsel. In the present case appellate counsel provided deficient performance by missing an issue. Petitioner was prejudiced by the deficient performance.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above argument, this Court should grant the petition for writ of certiorari in order to allow further briefing on the issue.


Kathrine H. Hudgins
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER