RECEIVED

NOV 20 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO COLLETON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001617

DESMOND J. SAMS,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SARA ELYSSA GUNTON
S.C. Bar No. 103525
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The PCR court properly denied relief where Petitioner failed to establish appellate counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to argue on direct appeal whether the trial court erred in denying Petitioner's motion for a mistrial based on the State's failure to "timely" disclose videotaped statements of two witnesses and a written statement by another witness on direct appeal.**

On appeal, Petitioner argues the post-conviction relief court erred as a matter of law in rejecting his claim that he was entitled to a new trial based on appellate counsel's failure to brief on direct appeal the trial court's refusal to grant a mistrial following the State's failure to "timely" disclose purported impeachment evidence to Petitioner. First, Petitioner contends appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to brief the trial court's refusal to grant a mistrial based on the State's disclosure of a written statement from Sharron Glover after Glover had testified and been cross-examined by Petitioner. Second, Petitioner contends appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to brief the trial court's refusal to grant a mistrial based on the State's disclosure of videotaped statements from eyewitnesses Stephanie Ballard and Lisa Strickland, after they had both testified and been cross-examined by Petitioner. Petitioner argues these errors by appellate counsel rise to the level of constitutional ineffectiveness and warrant the reversal of his conviction and a remand for retrial. To the contrary, the post-conviction relief court correctly found Petitioner did not meet his requisite burden of proof as to these allegations and denied relief.

Petitioner, like all other criminal defendants, was constitutionally entitled to the effective assistance of appellate counsel. *Evitts v. Lucey*, 469 U.S. 387, 398 (1985). Appellate counsel must be able to provide effective representation as to render the appellate proceedings fair, and "must play a role of an active advocate, rather than a mere friend of the court assisting in a detached evaluation of appellant's claim." *Id.*; see also *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 378 (1967).

In deciding a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, courts must focus on “the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged.” *Strickland v. Washington*, at 685, 696. First, the burden of proof is on applicant to show that appellate counsel’s performance was deficient under prevailing professional norms. Second, applicant must prove they were prejudiced by counsel’s deficiency and show with a “reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Southerland v. State*, 337 S.C. 610, 616, 524 S.E.2d 833, 836 (1999) (citing *Strickland v. Washington, supra*). The proper standard for evaluating an effective assistance of appellate counsel claim is that enunciated in *Strickland. Smith v. Robbins*, 528 U.S. 259, 263 (2000).

When an applicant contends appellate counsel rendered ineffective assistance for failing to argue a specific issue on appeal, they must show that failure to raise that issue was objectively unreasonable and that, but for this failure, applicant’s conviction or sentence would have been reversed or remanded. *Southerland, supra. See also People v. Griffin*, 687 N.E.2d 820 (Ill. 1997) (defendant who contends appellate counsel rendered ineffective assistance, e.g., by failing to argue issue, must show that failure to raise issue was objectively unreasonable and that, but for this failure, defendant’s conviction or sentence would have reversed).

First, an applicant must show that a particular nonfrivolous issue was clearly stronger than issues presented by appellate counsel in a merits brief on appeal; if successful in such a showing, an applicant then has the burden of demonstrating prejudice; that is, they must show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s failure to raise that particular claim in the merits brief, applicant would have prevailed on appeal. *Smith*, 528 U.S. at 288. *See e.g., Gray v. Greer*, 800 F.2d 644, 646 (7th Cir. 1986). An applicant must satisfy both prongs of the *Strickland* test to prevail, because prejudice is not presumed by this claim. *Smith*, 528 U.S. at 288-89. (“Generally, only when ignored

issues are clearly stronger than those presented, will the presumption of effective assistance of counsel be overcome”). However, appellate counsel who files a merits brief need not, and should not, raise every nonfrivolous issue presented by the record. *Thrift v. State*, 302 S.C. 535, 397 S.E.2d 523 (1990) (Appellant has no constitutional right to compel appointed counsel to press nonfrivolous points, if counsel, as a matter of professional judgment, decides not to present those points).

Great deference is given to Counsel’s experience and professional judgment in winnowing out weaker arguments and focusing on one, or at most a few key issues in order to maximize the likelihood of success on appeal. *Jones v. Barnes*, 463 U.S. 745, 751-52 (1983). “A brief that raises every colorable issue runs the risk of burying good arguments, and may have the tendency to project a lack of confidence in any one.” *Id.* (citing Jackson, *Advocacy Before The Supreme Court*). In *Anders*, the United States Supreme Court recognized appellate counsel’s role as advocate requires them to support their clients appeal to the best of their ability. *Id.* at 754 (citing *Anders*, 386 U.S., at 744). “For judges to second-guess reasonable professional judgments and impose an appointed counsel a duty to raise every ‘colorable’ claim suggested by a client would disserve the very goal of vigorous and effective advocacy that underlies *Anders*.” *Id.*

Petitioner failed to meet this high burden of proof required of him as to these allegations, and accordingly, the post-conviction relief court properly denied relief. This Court should affirm the post-conviction relief court’s finding and deny Petitioner’s request for certiorari.

- a. **The PCR court properly denied relief where Petitioner failed to establish appellate counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to argue on direct appeal whether the trial court erred in denying Petitioner’s motion for a mistrial based on the State’s failure to “timely” disclose Sharron Glover’s written statement when the State had no duty to disclose the letter and trial counsel failed to preserve the issue for appellate review.**

First, Petitioner argues appellate counsel was ineffective for not challenging the trial court's denial of Petitioner's motion for a mistrial based on the State's failure to "timely" disclose a written statement from Sharron Glover. In arguing the motion for a mistrial on the basis of the State's failure to comply with *Brady*, trial counsel stated, "I was also surprised to see a written statement from Sharron Glover, which I did not have prior to today." (Tr. p. 196, ll. 19). Trial counsel made no other mention of Glover's statement, did not seek to introduce the statement into evidence, nor did he ask the trial court to allow him to re-cross Glover.

At the PCR evidentiary hearing, trial counsel testified that during Petitioner's trial, the State provided him a written witness statement, referring to Glover, who had already testified. (App'x p. 345). Trial counsel believed having Glover's statement prior to cross examining her would have been helpful, and proceeded to read Glover's written statement into the record:

I am the sister and employer of J. Fred Frazier, III, and on April the 12th, 2008, at about 4:25 a.m. Stephanie Ballard called me on my cell phone, told me that she couldn't get Desmond off of Red, that he wouldn't turn him loose. They were arguing and fighting. I got her to put the phone on speakers and yelled for Desmond to get off of Red. He said, no. I told him to get the hell off him. I was sitting, I was getting dressed, and as I went down the steps, about halfway, Stephanie and the police were there. At the bottom of the steps she screamed, 'He's not breathing.' I hung up, and my brother and I rode to the, with my husband to the house on Glenn Street.

(App'x p. 346, ll. 12-24; p. 347).

Appellate counsel testified he did not recall the specifics of this case, nor did he remember writing the brief. (App'x p. 366-367) When asked if the timing of the statement's disclosure to Petitioner would have been an issue he would have raised on appeal, appellate counsel responded, "... [I]t depends. It depends on what the content of the interviews and stuff that weren't disclosed were." (App'x p. 370, ll. 10-12).

Here, Petitioner failed to meet his burden of establishing appellate counsel was constitutionally ineffective for not raising this issue on direct appeal, as Petitioner did not proffer a copy of the statement during trial, appellate counsel was unable to raise it on appeal, let alone consider it as a possible argument. *See State v. Mitchell*, 330 S.C. 189, 498 S.E.2d 642 (1998) (affirming trial court's decision to exclude a written eyewitness statement that was discovered after the jury began deliberating, where the statement was not proffered for appellate review); *see also State v. Williams*, 321 S.C. 455, 464 n. 4, 469 S.E.2d 49, 55 n. 4 (1996) (burden is on appellant to provide a sufficient record for review). Furthermore, even if Petitioner was able to show this issue had been preserved for appellate review, Petitioner has failed to show that the solicitor had a duty to even disclose the statement to him in compliance with Rule 5, South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure, or *Brady*.¹ Thus, Petitioner cannot establish appellate counsel was deficient by not raising the unpreserved claim on appeal, and therefore, cannot show prejudice. Accordingly, the PCR court correctly denied relief, and this Court should deny certiorari as to this issue.

- b. The PCR court properly denied relief where Petitioner failed to establish appellate counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to argue on direct appeal whether the trial court erred in denying Petitioner's motion for a mistrial based on the State's failure to "timely" disclose the videotaped statements of witnesses Stephanie Ballard and Lisa Strickland when the trial court cured any harm by allowing trial counsel time to review the tape and re-cross both witnesses.**

Second, Petitioner argues the PCR court erred by finding appellate counsel was not constitutionally ineffective, because appellate counsel should have raised on direct appeal whether the trial court erred by denying Petitioner's motion for a mistrial based on the State's failure to disclose videotaped statements from eyewitnesses Stephanie Ballard and Lisa Strickland, after

¹Pursuant to Rule 5(a)(2), SCRCrimP, the State does not have to disclose the statement of a prosecution witness until after that witness is questioned on direct examination and the defendant then moves for the statement. Likewise, the statement would only have to have been disclosed pursuant to *Brady* if the statement had impeachment or exculpatory value.

they had both testified and been cross-examined by Petitioner. Petitioner asserts he was prejudiced by appellate counsel's failure to raise this issue on appeal because the purported *Brady* violation central to his denied mistrial motion was a stronger argument than the one appellate counsel did raise.

Prior to trial, trial counsel filed all appropriate *Brady* and Rule 5 motions. (App'x p.202, ll. 3-5). However, trial counsel was not provided copies of, or made aware of, videotaped statements from Ballard and Strickland.² During his direct examination of Detective Allen Inabinett, trial counsel learned that in addition to their written statements, which trial counsel had received in discovery, there were videotaped statements from Ballard and Strickland that trial counsel was never made aware of. Trial counsel requested to approach the bench with the solicitor, and a bench conference took place, after which, trial counsel resumed questioning Det. Inabinett. When questioned on the contents of the videotaped statements, Det. Inabinett testified that, to his knowledge, there was nothing in the videotaped statements that was inconsistent with the contents of the written statements. (App'x p. 170, ll. 10-13). After the jury was dismissed for the evening, the trial court detailed the earlier bench conference that took place regarding Det. Inabinett's admission of the videotaped statements. (App'x p. 194). The solicitor conceded he had not provided the videotaped statements to the defense, in what he described was an apparent oversight, and further explained he was not aware of their existence and had no record of the videotaped statements³. (App'x p. 195, ll. 14-25; p. 196, ll. 1-3).

²Both Ballard and Strickland's statements were recorded on one videotape that was later marked as Defendant's Exhibit Number Two. (App'x p. 220, ll. 1-7).

³The videotaped statements were made in conjunction with the written statements were made, which may account for the omission. (App'x p. 196; 2020-203).

Trial counsel proceeded to move for a mistrial based on the State's late disclosure of the videotaped statements⁴. (App'x p. 196, ll. 20). The trial court declined to rule on the motion until after trial counsel was able to view the videotaped statements overnight. (App'x p. 197, ll. 4-10). The next morning, after having reviewed the tapes, trial counsel renewed his motion citing prejudice to Petitioner by not having the tapes available at the time he cross-examined Ballard and Strickland. (App'x p. 200, ll. 12-24). Trial counsel asserted that had he been in possession of these videotaped statements earlier, he would have handled his questioning of Ballard and Strickland differently on cross-examination. *Id.* The trial court denied Petitioner's motion and Ballard and Strickland were recalled to the stand as State's witnesses, subject to cross examination by Petitioner. Trial counsel briefly cross examined both witnesses before publishing their recorded statements to the jury. (App'x p. 211-221).

Here, the State's "untimely" disclosure of the videotaped statements of Ballard and Strickland did not undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. "Courts have held that when defense counsel is given the opportunity to review and use the inconsistent statement in cross-examination... there is no reasonable probability the outcome of the trial would have been different." *State v. Carlson*, 363 S.C. 586, 610, 611 S.E.2d 283, 295 (Ct.App. 2005); *See, e.g., Sheppard v. State*, 357 S.C. 646, 660, 594 S.E.2d 462, 470 (2004) (overruled on other grounds by *State v. Burdette*, 427 S.C. 490, 832 S.E.2d 575 (2019)). Moreover, Petitioner has not established a *Brady* claim. Petitioner saddles the bulk of his argument on the State's failure to "timely" disclose the videotaped statements, alleging the solicitor had an outstanding duty to make known and produce the videotape to Petitioner in light of Rule 5, SCRCrimP and *Brady*.

⁴Both Ballard and Strickland had already been called as witnesses during the State's case in chief, and had been cross-examined by trial counsel. (App'x p. 169, ll. 18-23).

Here, the contents of the statements “do not create a reasonable probability that the outcome of the proceedings would have been different had the information been disclosed.” *Sheppard*, at 660. *See also State v. Thompson*, 276 S.C. 616, 281 S.E.2d 216 (1981) (State’s failure to disclose does not warrant reversal unless defendant deprived of fair trial). Petitioner had the opportunity to review the videotaped statements, and use any possible inconsistent statements to impeach both Ballard and Strickland. As noted in the trial transcript, Ballard’s statement was published to the jury starting at 10:22 AM, ending at 10:48 AM; Strickland’s statement was published at 10:52 AM, ending at 11:00 AM. (App’x. p. 215; p. 220). Trial counsel’s questioning for both witnesses ceased after their respective statements were played, and it is not ascertainable from the trial transcript nor trial counsel’s testimony at the evidentiary hearing, whether or not the videotaped statements actually contained statements inconsistent from the written statements of Ballard and Strickland⁵. At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel testified he was “irritated” with not having the tape sooner and added “it affects the way you prepare for trial. That’s all.” (App’x p. 347, ll. 19; p. 362, ll. 11). At no point did trial counsel describe how Petitioner was prejudiced by the untimely disclosure, outside of lamenting that the judicial remedy allowing Petitioner to re-cross Ballard and Strickland was not the same. (App’x p. 362, ll. 15-16).

Base on the limited description of the statements made by Ballard and Strickland in the videotape, as alluded to in the record, the solicitor had no duty to disclose the statements to Petitioner until after Ballard and Strickland had testified on direct examination, if the solicitor had a duty to disclose at all. Petitioner has misunderstood the scope of Rule 5, SCRCrimP and *Brady*, and their applicability here.

⁵The videotape containing Ballard’s and Strickland’s statements was not provided to the PCR court, nor was a transcription of these statements produced.

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